### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ESIG PERLOW,	
Petitioner,	
	<b>CASE NO. SC02-1317</b>
v.	
SHARON J. BERG-PERLOW,	
Respondent.	
1	

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## RICHARD A. KUPFER, P.A.

5725 Corporate Way, Suite 106 West Palm Beach, FL 33407 (561) 684-8600 Counsel for Petitioner

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. WHETHER THE FOURTH DCA HAS CREATED CONFLICT BY AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DECLINING TO HOLD A HEARING ON ENTITLEMENT TO TEMPORARY ATTORNEY'S FEES UNTIL AFTER TRIAL WAS CONCLUDED?
- II. WHETHER THE FOURTH DCA HAS CREATED CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICTS BY FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT IMPROPERLY DELEGATE ITS DECISION-MAKING FUNCTION TO COUNSEL?
- III. WHETHER THE FOURTH DCA CREATED CONFLICT AND ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING TO APPOINT A GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR ADAM?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The parties were married in 1986 and their only child, Adam, was born in 1991. (See Perlow v. Berg-Perlow, 816 So2d 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). At the time of the final hearing Adam was eight years old. (T.1/76). The Husband was 54 years of age and the Wife was 40 years of age. Both the Husband and the Wife have college degrees. (R.2/270).

The Wife filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage in which she initially sought shared parental responsibility of Adam with liberal visitation for the Husband. (R.1/1, 23, 55A). The Husband sought joint rotating custody. (R.4/571). Neither the Wife's original petition nor any subsequent amended petition (See R.6/938A) pleaded for a permanent termination of all contact between the Husband and his only child, nor did it mention "parental alienation" which was injected at trial as the main theme of the Wife's case.

Four months before the final hearing was scheduled the Husband's attorney, Ken Renick, Esquire, advised the court that the Husband had run out of money and asked the court to determine his motion for temporary fees so that he could continue to represent the Husband. (R.14/2319-2324). The court refused and Renick withdrew. (R.7/1126-27; 14/2334).

#### FACTS PERTINENT TO ATTORNEY'S FEE ISSUE

According to the financial findings attached to the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage (R.14/2506, ex. A) the Wife had a net worth of about \$3.5 million while the Husband's net worth was \$271,556. Nearly all of the Husband's \$271,556 consisted of the Wife's jewelry valued at \$250,000 (Id.), which the Husband denied having taken notwithstanding the Wife's accusations. If the disputed jewelry is eliminated, the Husband has total assets of about \$20,000 according to the trial court's own findings, while the Wife, who has admittedly spent over \$700,000 on this litigation (See T.20/2538-40; H.A. 100-02) has over \$3.5 million in assets.

Ken Renick, Esquire, the attorney who withdrew because he was owed \$40,000 by the Husband, explained to the trial court that the Husband had no more money to pay to an attorney or to a forensic accountant or psychiatrist or other similar experts to counter the arsenal of experts that had been amassed by the Wife. (H.A. 14, 22). This occurred on October 1, 1999. (R. 14/2319-24). Renick testified he needed at least \$210,00 to \$225,000 in fees and costs to complete the case. (H.A. 23-27). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Husband has not worked since 1998 due to a heart condition. (T.1/58-59). The Wife's intangible tax return filed in 1998 listed nearly \$5 million in securities alone.(H. Ex. 2; H.A. 20). Her affidavit filed five days before trial admitted to a net worth of nearly the same amount. (R.5/1730).

Husband's business was terminated in 1997 due to his heart condition and his mother has loaned him \$200,000 to defray litigation expenses, but she could not loan him any more and he could not afford to hire counsel. (H.A. 37-38). The Husband asked the court not to pay temporary fees directly to him but to have it set aside for an attorney to represent him. (H.A. 39; W.A. 2, p.28).

After the trial court (Judge Colton) declined to award temporary fees as requested by attorney Renick, who then withdrew from the case (R. 7/1126-27; 14/2334), the Husband filed his own motion for temporary fees (R. 8/1397-98) and asked the court to set a hearing. (R. 8/1266). That hearing was held on December 9, 1999 about 2½ months before the final hearing was scheduled, and at that time Judge Colton denied the Husband's motion without prejudice to the Husband coming back again after he hires a new attorney to ask for temporary fees. (R.9/1525; H.A. 70). Judge Colton ruled that since the Husband had no obligation to pay attorney's fees as he was now acting pro se, he failed to demonstrate any "need" for attorney fees. (H.A. 68-70). Unfortunately, the Husband could not retain an attorney to represent him until the court determined he was entitled to an award of temporary attorney fees.

After that hearing the Husband spoke with several attorneys specializing in marital and family law including Ron Sales, Esquire, Tom Sasser, Esquire and Jim Tutle, Esquire. (T. 1/55-59, 63). Mr. Tutle was the least expensive but he still wanted

at least \$150,000 in fees plus \$50,000 to \$75,000 in costs to represent the Husband in this case. (T. 1/63).

No attorney wanted to appear without being assured they would be awarded fees (H.A. 73-75, 81). This was explained to Judge Harrison (retired judge assigned to preside at the final hearing) on the morning that the final hearing was scheduled to begin on February 22, 2000. The Wife's attorney told Judge Harrison that Judge Colton had already denied temporary fees to the Husband because he was representing himself. (T. 1/10-11). The Husband again asked for temporary attorney fees and a continuance so he could obtain a new attorney. Judge Harrison denied both requests (T. 1/51-74; 2/117-20; H.A. 82-84) on grounds that the Husband still did not have an attorney in the courtroom who was willing to represent him.

There is no question about the Wife's far greater ability to pay, but the Wife argued that until the Husband actually hired a lawyer he was not entitled to a temporary fee award. (H.A. 40-44). Judge Harrison stated:

[The Court]: The only way I know of basically doing attorney's fees is you have to get someone to come in here, an attorney to come in and say they have agreed to take the case on this basis - - and we have a hearing. There is no procedure whereby I order them to give you money to run out and hire an attorney. (T. 2/118).

Judge Harrison agreed that if the Husband brought an attorney the following

day, the court would hold a fee hearing. (T.2/119-20). The Husband showed up the next day with Peggy Rowe-Linn, Esquire a family law attorney. (T.3/334). Judge Harrison stated that it appeared "somewhat likely" the Husband would be entitled to fees and costs when the case was over. (T.3/229, 335). The court changed its mind, however, about holding a hearing at that time. If Ms. Rowe-Linn wanted to "come on board" fee entitlement would be determined at the end of the case. (T.3/335). Ms. Rowe-Linn told the court there is no way that she, or most any other attorney, could enter the case under those circumstances. (T.3/337). She stated to the court:

...nor do I know of any other practitioner in Palm Beach County who would come on board under these circumstances...This is a case of not less than 15 days trial duration... A case with six (minimally) experts in psychology and psychiatry. (T.3/337).

\* \* \*

... in excess of 3 or \$400,000 has been expended thus far on the Wife's side of the case;<sup>2</sup> that there are in excess of 700 docket entries... that the case is being litigated by Mr. Weissman whose reputation in the community is legendary in terms of his ability to effectively litigate for his clients.

I don't know anybody who Mr. Perlow could hire under those circumstances if the money were not in the bank and there was not a continuance granted for a reasonable period

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Wife admitted by the end of trial to having actually spent over \$800,000 on this litigation to prohibit the Husband from having any contact with his only child. (See Appendix to Husband's District Court Reply Brief, 1-3).

of time to acquaint oneself with at least the documentary evidence... (Id. at 338).

The Husband then asked if he could speak to the court and the court responded:

[The Court]: Well, no. I am not going to go any further with it at this point. Mr. Perlow,...you are representing yourself...(Id.at 339).

\* \* \*

[The Husband]: I take it your ruling is that you are going to deny me an award of temporary fees?

[The Court]: At this time.

[The Husband]: Versus what time, at the end of trial?

[The Court]: I said I would hold a hearing at the end of the trial on the issue of entitlement. And as I indicated, that preliminarily, just looking at the affidavits, preliminarily it would appear that you would get entitlement. But I can't do it at this time. [e.s.] (Id. at 339-40)

Judge Harrison offered to recess the case only for the remainder of that day and then start again the next day and not hold a hearing on temporary fees until after trial. (T.3/337). Attorney Rowe-Linn then left the courtroom and the Husband struggled to represent himself against the Wife's attorneys during 17 days of trial. Out of that 17 days, the Husband's case was put on for 1½ days. Out of a transcript of over 3,500 pages, the Husband's evidence comprises less than 400 pages.

After entry of a 25-page final judgment, which is discussed further in the next section of this brief, the Husband filed an appeal and moved the trial court for a

finding of entitlement to temporary attorney's fees so he could retain an appellate attorney. A hearing was held at which an appellate attorney, Edna Caruso, Esquire, appeared and indicated a willingness to handle the appeal for the Husband if there is a finding of his entitlement to temporary appellate fees. At that time, although the trial court had before it the same financial information it had when trial began, this time the court (Judge Colton) granted the Husband's motion and determined he was entitled to temporary attorney's fees to prosecute this appeal based on his need and the Wife's ability to pay. (W.A. 7; S.R. 19/5796). That same need and ability to pay also existed a few weeks earlier before trial began when the Husband needed an attorney to stand up to the Wife's litigation team. Judge Colton noted when he granted temporary appellate attorney's fees that the Husband has been found in another unrelated proceeding to be without funds to pay for an attorney. (W.A. 149-153).

# FACTS PERTINENT TO THE CUSTODY ISSUE AND THE SCATHING FINAL JUDGMENT

During most of this litigation the Husband and Wife rotated custody of Adam. (See R.3/453). On December 8, 1999, 2½ months before trial, Judge Colton made a finding that shared parental responsibility was still in Adam's best interest, but the court made the Wife primary residential parent with the Husband having standard visitation. (R.9/1423-26). Judge Colton noted that Adam's therapist, Dr. Ellinger, felt it would be harmful to completely separate Adam from his father due to a strong bond

between them. (R.9/1424-25).

When the case came to trial a few months later, the Wife had still not filed any pleading specifically notifying the Husband that she sought to have the court completely terminate all contact between the Husband and Adam. Two months earlier at the temporary custody hearing, the Wife did <u>not</u> take the position that no visitation should be awarded to the Husband. (R.11/1889). The Wife, however, argued below that when she amended her Petition to seek "restricted visitation" that should have put the Husband on notice that it could result in a complete termination of contact. (See Wife's District Court Brief at pp. 1, 26-27, 46). The Wife's position hardened considerably after the Husband was no longer being represented by an attorney.

At the 17 day trial, the Wife introduced testimony from an array of experts who never actually examined or tested the Husband, but who concluded from other sources that the Husband had a sociopathic personality disorder. They also opined that it would be in Adam's best interests to cease all contact with his father because the father was acting to alienate Adam from his mother.

One of the Wife's experts, Dr. Agresti, based his opinion on the Husband's conviction in Minnesota of a crime in 1967 (over 35 years ago) when he was 19 years old (S.R. 1/2664) and in 1986 (17 years ago) for grand theft. (A. 101; S.R. 12/4728;

T. 3/272-76). Dr. Agresti was not aware that the 1986 conviction had been set aside by the court and charges were dismissed. (A. 110, 113; H.Ex. 10).

Several of the Wife's experts admitted that the source of Adam's anger and aggression toward his mother could also be Adam's perception that his mother is trying to end Adam's contact with his father. (A. 154; S.R. 12/1198, 1272-73). That is exactly what Adam told his therapist (R.12/2109; 14/2345-46, 2404) and his teachers at school (S.R. 26/688-93; T. 19/2373, 2414-19, 2428). Adam expressed to Dr. Fischer, a child psychiatrist, a fear of being taken to Israel to live. (T. 19/2419-20). The trial court denied the Husband's motion for the court to interview Adam en camera. (T.26/3400-06).

There was evidence on both sides of the issue. Adam's treating therapist, Dr. Ellinger, saw Adam 14 times, the Husband six times and the Wife seven times. (R. 14/2343-44). He testified that Adam strongly desires to spend time equally with both parents. (W. Ex. 47, vol. 1 pp. 48, 81; R. 12/2098, 2110). Adam was fearful that the court would restrict his right to see his father and Dr. Ellinger did not believe it was in Adam's best interest to stop contact. (R. 12/2109; 14/2345-46, 2404). Dr. Ellinger felt that both parents needed counseling to manage their hostility in front of Adam. (R. 14/2376-77). The Wife had disparaged the Husband and discussed custody issues with Adam which caused Adam to act out in anger in Dr. Ellinger's opinion. (R.

14/2103). That testimony was given at the temporary custody hearing 2½ months before trial, and at trial Dr. Ellinger's testimony was essentially the same. (See T. 11/1307, 1316, 1319, 1326, 1336, 1345; 12/1427-31, 1466, 1500-03). Other experts agreed that Adam should have contact with both parents. (E.g. Dr. Fischer, T. 24/3103, 3137-38; 19/2445). Dr. Fischer, a child psychiatrist, did not believe a proper psychological diagnosis could be made for someone who has not been directly examined or tested (T. 19/2389), nor on the basis of a criminal incident that happened 20 or 30 years in the past. (T. 19/2397-98; 24/3118).

At the conclusion of the 17 day trial and on the morning the court heard closing arguments, the Wife's attorney submitted a 25-page proposed Final Judgment to Judge Harrison. (T. 26/3410). Judge Harrison made no oral rulings from the bench, nor any findings, nor stated anything to guide counsel for the Wife in drafting proposed findings of fact.

When, at the close of the evidence, the Husband asked the court if he could also submit a proposed Final Judgment the court discouraged him from doing so. The court told the Husband he was not expected to submit a proposed final judgment and that if the Judge needs any help there is a legal staff available to help him, but the Husband could submit one if he has one. (T. 26/3406-07). The next morning the Husband again asked the court if he could have the remainder of the day to prepare

his own proposed final judgment and the Judge again discouraged him and said it was not necessary. (See T. 27/3500). However, at the same time after closing arguments ended at 1:00 p.m. (R. 46/3409), Judge Harrison announced from the bench that the final judgment would be signed and ready to be picked up within two hours (by 3:00 p.m.) in Judge Colton's office. (T. 27/3500).

#### THE FINAL JUDGMENT

Within those two hours, Judge Harrison signed and filed the 25-page proposed Final Judgment drafted by the Wife's attorney verbatim without making a single alteration to it (other than the date just above the judge's signature). (R. 14/2481-2511). The Final Judgment dissolving the marriage is so scathing and overreaching that it is shocking. It immediately and permanently ends all contact between the Husband and Adam based upon the Wife's "parental alienation syndrome" theory. In order to justify taking such action, the entire final judgment repeatedly vilifies the Husband while it canonizes the Wife. It is replete with invectives against the Husband that were never uttered by the court at any time prior to having been drafted by the Wife's counsel.

First, the Final Judgment traces the "Husband's involvement in various criminal activities" which the court said was consistent with a sociopathic personality (R.14/2483). The Final Judgment mentions the Husband's conviction in 1986 for

grand theft, but never mentions the conviction was set aside and charges were thereafter dismissed. (R.14/2483). The Final Judgement mentions the Husband's disbarment in California after he was initially convicted of grand theft (R.14/2483) without mentioning he never sought reinstatement after his conviction was set aside because he did not actively practice law. (W.Ex. 69-70). While condemning the Husband's "meanness" and "atrocious conduct" (R.14/2485) and referring to him as a "pure psychopath" (R.14/2491, 2494), the Final Judgment extols the Wife as being "exemplary", "good, loyal and constant", "supportive" and "loving". (R.14/2484).

The Final Judgment states that the bond between Adam and his father is unhealthy because Adam has now postured himself as the advocate for his father. (R. 14/2485, 2489, 2493). It states that Adam misbehaves horribly towards his mother due to the Husband's influence (R. 14/2489), and if Adam is not immediately removed from all contact with his father he will likely turn out to be a sociopath just like his father (R. 14/2490) and will then have to be incarcerated or hospitalized himself. (R.14/2494, 2501). Nothing like that was ever uttered by the Judge to support the Wife's attorney gratuitously putting it into the Final Judgment.

The Final Judgment then continues and awards sole parental responsibility for Adam to the Wife and it prohibits the Husband from contacting Adam by telephone or e-mail, it prohibits sending videos, it prohibits visitation at any location and it even

prohibits indirect contact through third parties<sup>3</sup>, along with a prohibition against the Husband obtaining any of Adam's school records or medical records. (R. 14/2500-01). The Husband has been ordered to pay for Adam's support including his private school tuition and his medical bills until he turns 18, (R. 14/2502, 2497 -98), but the Husband is prohibited from knowing anything about Adam's school records or medical condition or any other subject.

The icing on the cake comes at the end of the Final Judgment where the court specifically directs the mother to disparage the father. (See R. 14/2501-02, ¶ 9). The court "finds" that its own previous order (entered by Judge Colton) prohibiting the Wife from disparaging the Husband has now become a detriment to Adam, and the Final Judgment affirmatively directs the mother to advise Adam about his father's "deceitfulness, his lack of remorse, his arrests, his poor behavior control and impulsivity, his lack of empathy, and his total anti-social personality disorder." (R. 14/2502). The Final Judgment also "requests all law enforcement officers in every state and county" to enforce the "no contact" provisions of the order because "the court believes the Husband will somehow attempt to violate the court's orders." (R.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, a grandmother telling Adam "Your father says hello and that he loves you" is expressly prohibited by the Final Judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If that was worded "convictions" instead of "arrests" it would come to a total of one 30 year old conviction.

14/2503). The judgment also authorizes the Wife to record all of Adam's conversations to make sure he is not contacting his father. (R.14/2504). The judge never uttered anything like that at trial before the Wife's attorney gratuitously put it into the Final Judgment which expressly threatens the Husband with incarceration if the order is violated. (R.14/2503).

The Final Judgement also, quite tellingly, criticizes the Husband for lying about attending a parenting course with the Children First Program and orders him, on pain of contempt, to attend it and furnish proof of doing so. (R.14/2485, 2504). Just hours before the Final Judgment, the Husband brought to court with him and gave to Judge Harrison his certificate of completion of that parenting course. (See T.27/3414). It was discussed in open court that very morning (T. 27/3414), but the proposed Final Judgment was drafted by counsel just before that happened. If Judge Harrison had read the 25-page order that he immediately signed and filed, that paragraph at the very least would have been stricken. Judge Harrison either did not carefully read the Final Judgment he signed, or he did not remember being handed the certificate of completion and talking about it just a few hours earlier the same day.

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