### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1317-4900 L.T. CASE NO. 4D00-60

ESIG PERLOW,	
Petitioner,	
vs.	
SHARON H. BERG-PERLOW,	
Respondent.	/

## **ANSWER BRIEF**

JOEL M. WEISSMAN, P.A.

DOREEN M. YAFFA, P.A.

DENISE C. DESMOND, P.A.

515 North Flagler Drive, Suite 1100

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

(561) 655-4655

Denise C. Desmond

Joel M. Weissman

Attorneys for Respondent

# **

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

THE COURT: Correct. I said that I would get an order out on this case very quickly.

MR. PERLOW: This child was with me this weekend. I don't know if you take the child away from me, I don't know if you are going to give me a chance to say good-bye, you will do whatever it is you decide to do. But I felt that to have the child faced with the mother coming to him and saying guess what, you can't see you dad anymore, I felt that was not the right way for this to happen and I suggested to her that we should speak to him together if, in fact, this was going to happen.

THE COURT: And say what to him?

MR. PERLOW: What possible outcomes to this might be.

THE COURT: That's discussing the case.

MR. PERLOW: Okay. Of course it's the case, but we didn't speak to him.

THE COURT: From all the evidence, I don't know what your case is going to show, but all the evidence so

far is that you just don't seem to get it. You are not supposed to be involving this child in this case and what goes on in court.

From all the evidence so far, it appears literally that he gets a briefing every time he sees you about everything that goes on in the case. And then he ---then essentially it kind of destroys him every time he is brought in and involved in it.

MR. PERLOW: Your Honor, you said—

THE COURT: I can't believe you would even contemplate on your own to sit down and discuss that with him or the two of you, without – I mean, given the attachment that the has to you, the impact that it would have, I am not a psychologist or anything, but obviously he would have a heck of a time go [sic] trying to deal with it. You just don't drop that on him.

. . .

(T-2938-2942).

The court in paragraph 26 of the Final Judgment found:

The Husband has no concept of his acts and how it has harmed this child and will continue to harm the child because of his own inability to understand his problems (the husband's) and his failure to seek help in resolving those problems, if at all possible.

Thus, the record on appeal, which contains questions and comments from the court, as well as evidence to support each of the trial court's findings (which has been

conceded by counsel), reveals that the judgment does in fact reflect the trial court's own reasoning.

Further, the fact that the judgment was signed within 2 hours is not, in this case, indicative of a lack of independent judgment. The court, during the proceedings, informed the parties that he would enter an order on Wednesday or Thursday (the final day of trial) dealing with custody (T-2756). It can be assumed that the court felt it exigent to have a judgment as soon as possible due to a concern for the child. Dr. Agresti specifically testified that the court should be concerned about Husband taking the child (T-297). Further, there was a vast amount of evidence of alienation and briefing of the child regarding the proceedings. It can be gleaned, from the comments of the court, that the court wished to spare the child the agony of hearing about the trial from his father (the court acknowledged that the child would "have a heck of a time" dealing with this—the knowledge that he may not see his father for some time), and then having to spend days worrying about the court's decision.

Based upon the foregoing, the decision of the Fourth District, affirming the judgment signed by the trial court, is consistent with the case law from other districts, and is supported by the record.

III. THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF HUSBAND'S REQUEST FOR A GUARDIAN AD LITEM, WHICH REQUEST WAS NOT MADE

## UNTIL THE MIDDLE OF TRIAL, TWO YEARS AFTER THE INITIAL PLEADINGS HAD BEEN FILED.

The Fourth District held that the dissolution proceeding was not a proceeding pursuant to Chapter 39, Florida Statutes, to terminate Husband's parental rights. Thus, the court found that the failure to appoint a guardian ad litem was not error as a matter of law. Perlow, 816 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). The Fourth District further concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Husband's appointment of a guardian ad litem, because Husband did not move for the appointment until two years after the commencement of the proceedings and not until midway through the trial. Id. Additionally, the court found no error because Husband failed to furnish the trial court with sufficient reasons for the appointment of a guardian so late in the proceedings. Id. The court did, however, direct the trial court's attention to section 61.401, Florida Statutes (2001), should any subsequent proceedings occur pertaining to the custody and visitation rights of the parties with the minor child. Id.

Section 61.401 states, in pertinent part:

In an action for dissolution of marriage, modification, parental responsibility, custody or visitation, if the court finds it is in the best interest of the child, the court may appoint a guardian ad litem to act as next friend of the child, investigator or evaluator, no as attorney or advocate. In such actions which involve an allegation of child abuse, abandonment, or neglect as defined in s. 39.01, which allegation is verified and determined by the court to be

well-founded, the court shall appoint a guardian ad litem for the child. ...[e.s.].

Section 39.01(2) defines child abuse as follows:

(2) "Abuse" means any *willful act* or threatened act that results in any physical, mental, or sexual injury or harm that causes or is likely to cause the child's physical, mental, or emotional health to be significantly impaired. ... [e.s.]

Husband claims, for the first time in this Court, that this case involves an allegation of child abuse, and therefore it was mandatory that the trial court appoint a guardian ad litem, no matter when the request was made. There was no finding in either the trial court or the appellate court that this case involved child abuse, as defined in Chapter 39, which requires a "willful" act. Further, there was no testimony that parental alienation syndrome is the result of a willful act on the part of one of the parents. In fact, the evidence was to the contrary. Dr. Agresti testified that Husband may love his son, but is incapable of raising a healthy child (T-295). Dr. Gardner testified that parental alienation syndrome (PAS) was a sickness: PAS, in some cases, is a shared psychotic disorder (T-1043). The court, as well as the experts, refer to PAS, not as a type of abuse, but as a diagnosis: The court inquired of Dr. Heller whether the fact that PAS is not in the DSM-IV, means it is not a bona fide diagnosis (T-1738). Dr. Heller testified that the sad thing about psychopathy is they [the psychopath] do not think they are doing anything wrong (T-1717). Dr. Heller categorized the child as a victim of psychopathy: All it takes is 5-10 minutes of a booster shot [speaking with the psychopathic parent] and the child will stay a victim of psychopathy (T-1718). Even the court, in response to Husband's comment that he is amazed by the concept of parental alienation because he is not trying to get the child away from his mother, stated that Dr. Gardner opined the sometimes PAS is unintended (T-3207).

Moreover, there was no verified allegation of child abuse, which, according to the statute, is a prerequisite to the mandatory appointment of a guardian ad litem for the child. There was no allegation of child abuse because this was not Wife's claim. The basis of Wife's request for sole parental responsibility and restricted visitation was that Husband had a sickness which resulted in the child suffering from Parental Alienation Syndrome, and which placed the child in jeopardy of becoming a sociopath/psychopath based upon his emulation of his father, a crystallized sociopath/psychopath.

Further, at trial, Husband did not ask for the appointment of a guardian ad litem on the basis that there were allegations of child abuse. Rather, Husband requested a guardian ad litem because the child's rights are coming into question and jeopardy (T-1287). Thus, this argument, which was not propounded to the trial court or the Fourth District, is not preserved for review.

Based upon the foregoing, there is no basis for Husband's argument to this court that this case involved "child abuse," as that term is defined in Chapter 39; this case involved a sickness of Husband, which negatively impacted the child. Therefore, the Fourth District properly evaluated the trial court's denial of the appointment of a guardian ad litem under the abuse of discretion test.

Next, Husband challenges the Fourth District's finding that the motion for appointment of a guardian was properly denied because it was not timely. Husband argues that because parental alienation syndrome was not plead, and because Wife was not taking the position that all contact should be ended as of just a few months before trial, Husband's motion should not be considered tardy. First, the opinions of the experts were required to be designated prior to trial, and Husband was given the opportunity to depose these witnesses. Thus, it is disingenuous for Husband to claim that he had no knowledge that Wife was claiming that the minor child suffered from PAS, and contact with his father should be severed for a discrete period of time. In fact, in the testimony of Husband's expert witness, Diane Fischer, she admitted that she was questioned regarding PAS in her deposition (T-2401). Thus, Husband clearly had knowledge of Wife's claim of PAS well before the trial, and could have moved for the appointment of a guardian ad litem prior to the middle of the trial. The trial court, therefore, was well within its discretion in denying this request.

Further, at the time Husband requested a guardian, he did not simultaneously request a continuance for the guardian to conduct an investigation. Therefore, the appointment of the guardian at that stage of the proceeding would have been of no benefit to the court, and any error would be harmless.

Husband next claims that Husband can not waive the child's interest in having a guardian appointed because the Husband is tardy in his request. The child was not a party to this suit, and had no interest per se. Further, section 61.16 does not "entitle" a child to a guardian, and therefore there is no right or "interest" for the Husband to waive.

Husband argues that rule 1.210(b) Fla.R.Civ.P., and case law from other districts, specifically Mistretta v. Mistretta, 566 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Gilbertson v. Boggs, 743 So. 2d 123 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), requires the appointment of a guardian ad litem whenever the child's interest is adverse to the parent's interests. Again, Husband never made this argument in either the trial court or the Fourth District, and this argument is not preserved for review. The Fourth District properly acknowledged this lack of preservation when it held that Husband failed to furnish the trial court with sufficient reasons for the appointment of a guardian ad litem. Perlow, 816 So. 2d at 216.

Nevertheless, Husband's reliance upon rule 1.210(b), which deals with parties to an action, is misplaced. Rule 1.210(b) states in pertinent part:

(b) Infants or Incompetent Persons. ...An infant or an incompetent person who does not have a duly appointed representative may sue by next friend or by a guardian ad litem. The court shall appoint a guardian ad litem for an infant or incompetent person not otherwise represented in an action or shall make such other order as it deems proper for the protection of the infant or incompetent person.

Rule 12.210 Fla.R.Fam.P. specifically states that rule 1.210 shall not be read to require that a child is an indispensable party for a dissolution of marriage or child custody proceeding. Thus, because the child is not a party to the suit, the child is not required to have representation via a guardian, and rule 1.210 is not applicable in this situation.

Husband's reliance upon Mistretta, and Gilbertson, is likewise misplaced. In Mistretta, the court found that a guardian was not necessary because the child was not a party to the action. Mistretta, 566 So. 2d at 837. The court explained that because the court was of the opinion that the interests of the minor were fully protected throughout the action because the child's interest coincided fully with the wife's interest in obtaining payment of child support from the husband, no guardian was necessary. Id. In the instant case, the child is not a party to the action, the child's interests were fully protected by Dr. Ellinger, his therapist (see below), and the Wife's

interest in assuring that the child was safe and healthy coincided with the child's interest (even if this was not the case, Dr. Ellinger's role in the trial rendered Wife's interest irrelevant).

Gilbertson is a paternity case. The court in Gilbertson noted that the child was a party to the suit as the child had an independent right to have his interests determined by the court. This is not the case in a dissolution proceeding. Gilbertson then goes on to discuss who may appropriately represent a child as a "next friend" and holds that if a father's interest conflict with the child's interest, he is not an appropriate "next friend." There is no issue in the instant case regarding a parent's eligibility to sue on behalf of a child: a child is not a party to the dissolution proceeding.

Husband again attempts to argue that the dissolution proceeding was a termination of parental rights, and, citing Cothron v. Hadley, 769 So. 2d 1148 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), argues that if a guardian is required to change a child's surname, it should be required to sever all ties with a parent. As pointed out by the Fourth District, Cothron was not reversed for failure to appoint a guardian ad litem, but rather for insufficient evidence; the Fifth District did not hold that an appointment of a guardian is necessary to change a child's surname. Moreover, in the instant case, the trial court did not terminate Husband's parental rights; it merely suspended his rights for a discrete period of time. Perlow, 816 So. 2d at 216. There was no proceeding

pursuant to Chapter 39. Whether or not Husband or the child feels the distinction is blurred, is of no consequence legally. Legally this is an action pursuant to Chapter 61, and Chapter 61, specifically 61.401 governs this action. Thus, Husband's claim of conflict with Harris v. Harris, 753 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000), is unavailing, as Harris was a not a dissolution proceeding. Harris is a paternity case. The basis of the Harris decision was the court's finding that a legitimate child has a right to maintain that status both factually and legally, and before any blood test can be ordered, a guardian must be appointed to represent the child. These facts are not on point with the facts or issues in the instant case.

Finally, any error in failing to appoint a guardian ad litem is harmless error, as the child had a therapist that acted in the capacity of the child's guardian ad litem. It is universally recognized that the function of a guardian ad litem in a custody dispute is to protect the best interests of the children. Perez v. Perez, 769 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). Guardians serve an important role by acting as representatives of the children and promoting society's interest in protecting children from traumas commonly associated with divorce and custody disputes. Id.

Dr. Ellinger's testimony reveals that he performed all the functions of a guardian ad litem. Dr. Ellinger specifically testified that he was an advocate for Adam (T-1512). He stated that he tried to represent what the youngster wanted in the court of law, but

that despite his best efforts Husband continually attacked him (T-1334). Dr. Ellinger told the court that he did not make a recommendation at the temporary relief hearing regarding custody, he stated facts as observed, and he expressed the child's wishes for 50/50 time sharing (T-1345). Dr. Ellinger requested evaluations of the parents in the child's best interest, as would a guardian (T-1348). Finally, Dr. Ellinger made it clear to the court that he was acting only in Adam's best interest: Dr. Ellinger testified that everything goes back to the youngster, we are here for the best interest of Adam (T-1349).

Thus, based upon the foregoing, the Fourth District properly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Husband's motion for appointment of a guardian ad litem and the decision should be AFFIRMED.

## CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fourth District in the instant case is not in conflict with the decisions of any other districts, and is supported by well-established case law and record evidence. Thus, the decision of the Fourth District must be AFFIRMED in all respects.

JOEL M. WEISSMAN, P.A.

DOREEN M. YAFFA, P.A.

DENISE C. DESMOND, P.A.

515 N. Flagler Drive, Suite 1100

Bv	Bv	
Denise C. Desmond	Joel M. Weissman	_
Fla Bar No. 0887137	Fla Bar No. 212830	

West Palm Beach, FL 33401

(561) 655-4655